


17, 1862, John Henderson was appointed U.S. Senator to replace Trusten
Polk. The following year he was elected for a full term. He served on a
number of important committees, including finance, foreign relations, and
Indian affairs. John Henderson and President Abraham Lincoln were re-
ported to be good friends. Henderson was the author of the Thirteenth
Amendment in Congress and an advocate of the Fourteenth and Fifteenth
Amendments. His alignment with the Radical Republicans came to an
abrupt end when he refused to cast a vote of “guilty” against President
Andrew Johnson during the latter’s impeachment proceedings in 1868. His
stand brought an end to his carcer in the Senate. On June 25, 1868, John
Henderson married Mary Newton Foote, a daughter of Judge Elisha Foote
of New York. John Henderson returned to St. Louis in 1868 and resumed
law practice. The John Hendersons had one son, John Brooks Henderson,
Jr. John, Sr. was chairman of the Republican national convention that
nominated James G. Blaine for the presidency in 1884. In 1889, John
Sr. retired from law practice and moved to Washington, D.C. where he
became active in real estate development. ¥He was appointed chairman of
the American delegation to the Pan American Congress held in Washing-
ton, D.C., 1889-1890. From 1892 to 1911, he served as a regent of the
Smithsonian Institute. John, Sr. wrote numerous articles for newspapers
and magazines. John Brooks Henderson, Sr. died April 12, 1913, after a
long illness.

JOHN B. HENDERSON, JUNIOR

John Brooks Henderson, Jr. was born at Louisiana, Missouri, in 1870.
He graduated from Harvard in 1891, and the Columbian University, now
George Washington University, in 1893, with a LL.B. degree. He took up
a diplomatic carer and was secretary to John W. Foster, while serving as
a diplomatic adviser to the Chinese government. He was later attached
to the suite of General Miles in Furope on an Army inspection tour in
1897. Henderson was a Republican nominee for Congress from Virginia
in 1906.

In 1911 he was appointed regent of the Smithsonian Institute and later
became a member of the executive committee. Although he was a prac-
ticing lawyer in Washington, D.C., his main interests were in marine
biology. His life was devoted to the study of deep sea growth and his
specialty was conchology, dealing with shell fish. He made a number of
explorations in his yacht, Eolis, collecting specimens from the ocean floor
from Maine to the West Indies, and as far west as Hawaii.

* Biographical Directory of the American Congress, 1774-1961, p. 1039; The Na-
tional Cyclopaedia of American Biography, Volume X111, 1906, pp. 49-50; Diction-
ary of American Biography, Volume 1V, 1931, pp. 527-529; David P. Dyer, Auto-
biography and Reminiscences, 1922; Alexandria Gazette, April 14, 1913; The Sunday
Star, April 13, 1913; The Washington Post, April 13, 1913.
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house was a stone driveway lined with trees. The author has an aerial
photograph of 1937 vintage obtained from the National Archives which
verifies this statement. Various persons interviewed have indicated that
the trees along the Henderson driveway were either sycamore, cottonwood,
or hawthorn. One of the residents along Henderson Road has reported
that while digging in his backyard, he ran into the old Henderson drive-
way of stone composition about two feet below the present surface of his
lawn.’* The old Henderson driveway apparently ran approximately under
the present boundary fence separating the Kate Waller Barrett school yard
from the residences along Third Street, North and the house fronting on
Henderson Road.

One interesting story connected with the Henderson House goes as
follows: A few years after the John B. Henderson, Jrs. were married, their
friends heard that they wcre expecting an heir. The couple slipped quietly
out of Washington to the Henderson country home in Virginia, and pres-
ently returned with a baby girl, who was named Beatrice Van Renasalaer
Henderson, amid much rejoicing in the “castle.”” Only a few very close
friends had been permitted to visit the Henderson home in Virginia, and
the only attendants were three trusted servants and a physician. Beatrice,
or “Trixie” as she became known, was raised in the austere old fortress on
16th Street, N.W. in Washington, D.C. Beatrice went to school abroad
and did extensive traveling in Europe with her grandmather. All of the
friends of “Trixie” were debutantes and all of the parties which “Trixie”
attended were debutante parties, but Mrs. John, Sr. would have no “coming
out” party for her granddaughter, “Trixie.” In fact, Mrs. Henderson was
quoted as saying, “Debutante parties? I don’t believe in them. They are
nothing but auction blocks, where young girls, carefully reared, are placed
on the marriage market. No! There shall be no debutante parties in my
family.” Again she is supposed to have said, “They are hussies, these
modern girls. They drink and smoke, and they wear gowns that are utterly
shocking. My granddaughter is different. Her skirts are to her ankles. She
is a lady.” Mors. John, Sr. discouraged young women and men from calling
on “Trixie” in the Henderson Castle. One day a young man called at
Henderson Castle in the bold hope of selling the aged dowager a Rolls
Royce automobile, for which he was a salesman. Beatrice met him and
they fell in love. They met secretly and finally told Mrs. Henderson that
they wanted to marry. Mrs. Henderson was opposed to the marriage, but
finally consented to a quiet wedding. Mrs. Henderson settled $400,000 on
Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Wholean as a wedding present. She arranged for
Wholean to become a trade commissioner for the Government and he and
his young wife went to live in Rome. When Mrs. Henderson in 1931 offered
to give the U. S. Government a $500,000 mansion on Fifteenth Street
N.W. as a Vice Presidential residence, Mrs. Beatrice Henderson Wholean

I Personal Interview, Mr. Robert C. Huston, Arlington, Virginia, August 31, 1969.
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4.012 acres of land from Thomas H. Pickford for $22,000.” Mr. Porter
lived on the place and his activities are described in a previous issue of the
Society’s periodical.*® During the period of 1941 to 1950, the old Hender-
son House was used by the U.S. Army as an officer’s club and billeting by
the military units assigned to nearby Arlington Hall.** On June 4, 1951,
Arlington County agreed to purchase from Mr. Porter and his wife,
Frances A., four parcels of land over a four-year period. The old Hender-
son House was included in Parcel A which was purchased on August 30,
1951, by Arlington County for $16,875. The other three parcels of land
were rented by the County and purchased individually during the next
three years.>* The appraisal on the 6.76 acre Porter tract came to $71,150,
or $6,000 per acre including the value of the buildings. In 1951, the Hen-
derson House was valued at $20,500, the caretaker’s house at $8,050, and
the barn at $1,800.

Arlington County dedicated the new Recreation Center (Henderson
House) on November 24, 1951. The old Henderson House became the
first permanent recreation center in Arlington County. A dance was held
that evening to initiate the new activities for County residents. The con-
verted dwelling provided facilities for offices, classrooms, a kitchen, and a
ballroom.?*

On October 16, 1954, Hurricane Hazel swept through Arlington County.
Heavy rainfall and strong winds with gusts up to 98 miles per hour accom-
panied the storm. There were a number of power failures throughout the
County and emergency operations were handled at Arlington Hospital by
flashlight. The strong hurricane gusts blew down electric wires at the
Recreation Center (old Henderson House) causing a switchbox to short
and a fire to start. Fireman said that flames spread rapidly through the
building whipped by the wind. Flames shot 30 to 40 feet above the building
as firemen battled to save the structure. The first alarm was sounded at
3 pm. The four alarm fire raged unchecked for 45 minutes, before it was
brought under control by about 50 firemen using 15 pieces of equipment.
The fire burned out parts of the first and second floor, a portion of the
roof, and an attic where athletic and other recreation equipment was
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was stored.?

The ruins of the old Henderson House were leveled and a new Recrea-
tion Center was built on the tract of land. On the wall of the downstairs
hallway in the new Recreation Center is a large color photograph of the

7 Arlington County Deed Book 328/23. )

¥ Donald A. Wise, “Arlington Forest.” The Arlington Historical Magazine, Vol. 3,
No. 4 (1968), pp. 27-28. .

® Personal Interview, Mrs. Jasper Vance, Arlington, Virginia, August 31, 1969.

* Arlington County Deed Books 1014/175, 1076/163, 1139/598, 1177/301.

% The Daily Sun, November 24, 1951.

2 The Washington Post, October 16, 1954, p. 19.

3 Personal Interviews with Lt. J. W. Braber and Captain J. L. Georgie, Arlington
County Fire Department, April 13, 1969.
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